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AUTHOR’S COMMENT ON SOURCES

My father, USAF Chief Warrant Officer Joseph F. Ganis, was a veteran of World War II and my greatest hero. As a young man, I would never tire of hearing about the campaigns he had been a part of in North Africa, Sicily, and Italy. In 1972, my freshman year of high school, I began collecting the series of illustrated histories on World War II by Ballantine Books. These small, reasonably priced books (only one dollar at the time), were a great source of knowledge to me. The extensive series covered a wide range of interesting topics, including the principle battles and biographies of various important personalities from the war. One book caught my attention—war leader book, no 11, titled, Skorzeny, authored by Charles Whiting.

The Ballantine book on Otto Skorzeny was my first introduction to a man who would capture my strong interest for many years. Ultimately, doing intense research on Skorzeny would consume several years of my life. In 1976, my attention was again directed toward Skorzeny by the release of the movie, The Eagle Has Landed, based on the bestselling novel of the same name by author Jack Higgins. This fictional account of a German plot to kidnap Winston Churchill from England, using German commandos disguised as Allied Polish paratroopers, was totally spellbinding for me at the time. To set the stage for the storyline, the movie opens with actual film footage relating to a daring German commando raid in September 1943, when then Captain Skorzeny, on orders from Adolf Hitler, rescued fascist dictator Benito Mussolini, who had been arrested by a pro—Allied Italian government. In the movie, the Skorzeny mission serves as the inspiration for the even greater objective of abducting Winston Churchill. The Eagle Has Landed became one of my all-time favorites and furthered my interest in Skorzeny and in special operations in general.

Not surprisingly, these early impressions influenced my own pursuit of a military career, and, as the years passed, I retained my interest in the story of Otto Skorzeny, and other famous commando leaders. In December 1994, during the fiftieth anniversary of the Battle of the Bulge, I happened to be stationed with the U.S. Army in Germany. With my intense interest in the Second World War, I naturally took the opportunity to visit the Ardennes forest where much of the action took place in that great battle. I took interest in the areas where Skorzeny’s special Panzer Brigade 150, outfitted with American markings and special commandos dressed in American uniforms, began part of a great German deception plan to seize the initiative in the opening phase of the battle. Together with a friend, I retraced the exact route of the attacking German army and the points of heroic defense by the Americans.

As the years passed, I occasionally reflected on Otto Skorzeny, particularly when I served with the United States Special Operations Command, where the tactics and methods of famous commandos are a continuing subject of interest to military thinkers and historians.

In subsequent years, I had observed that, while much had been written about Skorzeny’s exploits during World War II, very little was known about his postwar life. After being found not guilty by a war crimes tribunal, he reportedly escaped from an internment camp in 1948. Some accounts said his “escape” was assisted by U.S. intelligence. This curious beginning to his postwar life was compounded by quite contradictory information regarding his character. On one hand, there was a body of professional military men who expressed admiration for Skorzeny’s soldierly qualities, his skill and daring, and his innovation and unconventional methods. On the flip side, there were those who suggested Skorzeny was involved with nefarious postwar organizations. Despite a considerable amount attention and fascination with Skorzeny, the enigma of his postwar life continued to be a contradictory mystery.

Then, in 2012, I became aware, rather by chance, that Otto Skorzeny’s personal papers were to be auctioned in the United States by a reputable American auction house. Incredibly, the papers had come into the possession of a Spanish citizen in Madrid whose grandfather, a colonel in Francisco Franco’s army and close friend of Skorzeny, had received the documents for safekeeping directly from Skorzeny’s wife, Ilse. Skorzeny had moved to Madrid in 1950 and died there in July 1975. According to the oral history attached to the papers, before his death Skorzeny had charged his wife with the protection of his personal archive. As the story goes, much of the papers were burned over time, but a fragmentary grouping of documents (the ones used for the research in this book) survived. This archive ranges from 1947 to around the period of Skorzeny’s death. They were originally secreted away by the Spanish colonel in a small trunk. The trunk was later passed to the colonel’s son and eventually his grandson. There was a curious aura of fear attached to the papers, so it was the grandson, who first opened and began examining the documents. The papers presented several immediately challenges. Most of them are in German, comprised mostly of correspondence from Skorzeny to his wife Ilse concerning various business ventures they were engaged in after their arrival in Spain. There are very few letters of a strictly personal nature, although there are a multitude of references within the business letters concerning friends, acquaintances, and casual events. The papers do not read like a diary, but they do reveal Skorzeny’s network of closest friends, his interest in Cold War geopolitical events, and his personal loyalties, which include covert relationships with the CIA and the American military.

The description of the collection by the auction house was quite remarkable, touting them as “the only surviving archives of Hitler’s top commando.” Overall, this seemed to me a great opportunity to shed light on the mysteries of Skorzeny’s postwar life, to understand his personal relationships and businesses, and to perhaps confirm or disprove the existence of the ODESSA organization.

I was fortunate to win the bid on Skorzeny’s papers. Perhaps to my advantage was the rising stigma in society of collecting Nazi-related material. But my growing fascination for Skorzeny over the years was always centered on his record as a military leader and the enigmas of his personal history. Overall, I was quite fortunate, for it is rare that a historian is privy to unexploited papers, especially of noted historical figures.

At the time, I was not fully aware of the history of the papers and how they came to survive; that came later. The archive would prove to be a tremendous challenge to reconcile, for what I thought I would discover, and what was revealed, was staggering. In the initial phase of reviewing the documents, my training and instincts as an intelligence professional were ignited by the content of the papers. The Skorzeny papers, from the first moment, were dumbfounding and perplexing. Within hours of receiving the material, I noticed evidence of intelligence and operational relationships between Skorzeny and U.S. officials.

To advance my research of the personal papers I purchased copies of all declassified documents from the National Archives of the United States government concerning Skorzeny. This included mostly information from U.S. military intelligence and the CIA, but also a small group of documents from the FBI and Department of State.

The declassified documents were quite voluminous with reports dating from World War II until the period of Skorzeny’s death in 1975. Over the years, there had been some speculative writing that Skorzeny had a clandestine relationship with U.S. intelligence. This is also confirmed by the declassified documents but not to the extent of his personal papers. Skorzeny’s personal paper reveal a clandestine relationship on a much, much deeper level than the government documents portrayed.

I was hoping that Skorzeny’s personal papers could be reconciled against the declassified documents. In a few cases this proved to be possible, but overall the papers conflict with declassified reporting which is almost entirely related to counterintelligence and do not reveal any operational aspects of his life.

Within days of receiving Skorzeny’s papers, I was surprised to discover that a retired U.S. Army colonel named Jere Wittington, who had known Skorzeny in the early 1950s was living in Florida. I contacted Colonel Wittington, who graciously invited me to his home and agreed to help me with my project. His assistance turned out to be invaluable. Wittington’s firsthand account was a tremendous addition to revelations found in both the declassified CIA reports as well as in Skorzeny papers.

This pattern was repeated several times as I was able to make contact with other U.S. intelligence and Madrid embassy personnel who had known and worked with Skorzeny throughout the 1950s and 1960s. The conclusion was clear—what had appeared to the world to be an ever-diminishing World War II celebrity, had now been resurrected in the archive as a more and more important character in Cold War history.

Through the 1950s and 1960s, Skorzeny’s special experience and skills in covert operations were increasingly utilized by the most secret agencies of multiple governments, including the United States. It’s very clear the he enjoyed the confidence of highly-placed western intelligence officials eager to use his special skills in highly classified operations to combat the Communist threat in the Cold War. At an early point, it also became apparent, due to Skorzeny’s business relationships that linked him intimately to Dallas that there was at least the potential for a link to the assassination of President John F. Kennedy. This line of research continued to expand dramatically, until I was convinced that either Skorzeny was directly involved in the Dallas affair or that those he was connected to were. I also believed the papers would act as a pathway to uncover the facts behind the event. The hypothesis was confirmed. I now present to the reader this body of evidence based on five years of research and exploitation of the Skorzeny papers.


FOREWORD
BY DICK RUSSELL

Among the hundreds of books published on the assassination of President Kennedy, conspiracy “whodunit” theories have ranged from the Cubans to the Mafia to the Illuminati. Very few have managed to connect the dots between American spy agencies, corporate enterprises, and clandestine global networks. Now we have The Skorzeny Papers, tying such a web of intrigue together in a surprising and unprecedented way.

Otto Skorzeny’s is a familiar name to students of the Second World War. While in charge of Hitler’s elite commando unit, among many other assassination and abduction missions, Skorzeny’s daring raid rescued Mussolini as Italy was about to fall to the Allies. Not so well known is Skorzeny’s postwar career during the Cold War against the Soviet Union, as a valued asset of numerous Western nations including the U.S.

Major Ralph P. Ganis, who acquired Skorzeny’s personal papers at an auction in 2012, begins by examining how the roots of the CIA overlap with a number of agencies and big-business fronts having close links to the Nazi German hierarchy. These relationships, useful in the fight against communist aggression while expanding American global domination, would ultimately result in covert alliances aimed at overthrowing foreign leaders—and likely assassinating an American president.

Skorzeny’s private network, painstakingly traced through Ganis’s research, became a fulcrum for such operations. In these pages, the reader will discover many previously-unknown names—men such as businessman Victor Oswald and CIA official Al Ulmer—as well as organizations like the World Commerce Corporation and the Dallas-based General American Oil Company.

The reader will also learn of how obscure power players suddenly emerged with crucial roles in the effort to ensure Lee Harvey Oswald remained a “lone nut gunman.” One of these was a Colonel Robert G. Storey, in 1963 a prominent Dallas attorney who along with his associate Leon Jaworski (of later Watergate fame) achieved liaison roles with the Warren Commission investigating Kennedy’s murder. Indeed, Commission members Allen Dulles and John J. McCloy had been instrumental in originally establishing Otto Skorzeny’s secret network.

In my book on the assassination, The Man Who Knew Too Much, I described connections between right-wing CIA/military operatives, Cuban exiles, and wealthy Texas oilmen. I also wrote about Jean Rene Souetre, involved in an assassination attempt against French President Charles de Gaulle shortly before being “deported” from Dallas by private plane on November 22, 1963. However, I was unaware until publication of The Skorzeny Papers about these various clandestine involvements with the ex-Nazi, extending prior to JFK’s assassination into the era’s conflicts in Vietnam, Algeria, and the Congo.

Author Ganis does not leap to conclusions. He cannot prove that Skorzeny and his brethren, including some in organized crime, conspired to kill the president. What Ganis does achieve is a chronological tracing of dark alliances that sheds fresh light on how long-suspicious CIA officials like William Harvey and James Angleton wove Otto Skorzeny into their tangled web, or vice versa. The evidence indicating that Skorzeny, from his base in Madrid, served as leader of the Agency’s QJ/WIN assassination program is compelling. Equally intriguing is the role of the Tolstoy Foundation, a CIA front, in bringing Oswald under the wing of Dallas’ White Russian community upon his return from the USSR in June 1962.

The devil is in the details. As with any great mystery—and the Kennedy assassination remains the most riveting of all—the reader is invited to “build the case,” follow the chain as it emerges across many pages among Skorzeny and his henchmen. In the end, it is not a stretch to conclude that Ganis’s work brings us closer than we’ve ever come to understanding the cabal who changed the course of American history on November 22, 1963.


PREFACE

Why was President John F. Kennedy killed and who carried it out? All of the investigations, commissions, and academic works have not answered these questions. This book integrates startling new information that does resolve the mystery. The pathway to the discovery involves the astounding revelation of a man most Americans have never heard of and whose life was previously only associated with sensational military operations of World War II. His name is Otto Skorzeny. He had been Hitler’s chief of German special forces during the war.

Skorzeny’s life after World War II has been an enigma since 1945, and conflicting stories abound. In some histories he is reported as a nefarious ex-Nazi, while other accounts suggest he was in some way involved in Western intelligence intrigues but give no details as to his involvement. Most of what is written about Skorzeny during the Cold War period has been pieced together from newspaper accounts and declassified U.S. government documents. The U.S. documents are predominately security files by counterintelligence that record Skorzeny’s activities as reported by various sources. There are a few passing mentions that Skorzeny did assist the U.S. government with covert operations, but none were operational files. Overall, the available body of material, whether in the form of newspaper accounts or official documents, reveals an inaccurate history of Skorzeny.

Many authors have been transfixed on Skorzeny’s association with Hitler and maintain Skorzeny was a die-hard Nazi who organized and maintained a worldwide neo-Nazi movement after the war. This is not accurate. Others blend Skorzeny’s Nazi past with his poorly understood assistance to U.S. intelligence to suggest a Nazi faction within the U.S. government. This, too, is inaccurate. The truth is found in the Skorzeny papers that show his postwar life was in no way a continuation of the Third Reich, nor a sensational U.S.–Nazi plot. This is simply a chapter in the history of the Cold War in which the survival of the West against Communism was the paramount motive. In fact, it will come as a startling pronouncement that this man Otto Skorzeny was a trusted asset of many Western countries, including the U.S. government, in the leveraging of all viable assets to ensure victory over Soviet aggression and prepare for a potential third world war.

In 2014, the German government admitted that in the immediate years after World War II, a secret emergency combat force, or “shadow army,” had been formed, made up of former Third Reich soldiers prepared to defend Germany in the event of a Soviet invasion. It was revealed that Skorzeny was a part of this formation. In fact, all of the plans related to Skorzeny’s involvement with the German contingency army are in the Skorzeny papers.

In 2012, Israeli historians revealed that Skorzeny had assisted their country with espionage directed against Egypt in the early 1960s. Then, in 2015, newspaper reporters added that Skorzeny had carried out assassinations for the state of Israel against individuals who were connected to weapons of mass destruction.

In regard to the use of Skorzeny by foreign governments and by the United States, it is important to note that he was an independent operator. In fact, the evidence gleaned from the Skorzeny papers indicates that his relationship with the United States government was unilateral and decisions by U.S. leadership involving his services in sensitive matters of national security did not include disclosure to foreign governments. Some operations may have been joint efforts. It is known, for example, that West Germany and the United States worked together on Skorzeny’s missions to Egypt in 1953.

But assassination operations are distinctly different. Plausible deniability is the literal keystone to these operations; therefore, given the extreme need for secrecy, it is logical that any assistance Skorzeny gave to Western governments in regard to assassination was compartmented and known only to the government involved.

No one could have imagined that the contents of Skorzeny’s personal papers were intimately associated with the people and organizations that had the motive and capability to carry out the assassination of President John F. Kennedy. It is widely known and well documented that government covert operations commonly require cover taking the form of commercial activities. The Skorzeny papers consist largely of business-related correspondence of commercial enterprises used for such cover. Specifically, the names, locations, organizations, and events in these papers correspond directly to the agents, places, organizations, and events associated with U.S. covert intelligence activities for the same period. This amazing relationship between Otto Skorzeny and Western intelligence services is nothing short of astounding. It arose from Skorzeny’s extraordinary capabilities and his persona, which was a progressive extension of his wartime skills. His attributes were recognized and seized upon by the architects and leaders of Cold War secret operations and programs.

The Skorzeny papers reveal that these clandestine relationships developed over time, resulting in an escalation of his involvement and his importance in the implementation of secret operations. His activities were carefully guarded and maintained by individuals outside normal intelligence channels. His use originated from his extensive knowledge and contacts within former German intelligence networks from the war, which were absorbed and utilized by U.S. intelligence in the immediate postwar period. Skorzeny gained the confidence and admiration of certain powerful and influential U.S. military and intelligence leaders at the highest level.

Of special interest were Skorzeny’s capabilities in covert operations, including the targeting of individuals. Assassination operations were carried out extensively during World War II by both the Allies and the Axis powers. When the war ended, the one-time allies, the United States and Soviet Russia, initiated a Cold War and instructed their intelligence agencies to begin extensive covert actions directed at each other. Assassination played an important role in this saga and included the elimination of enemy agents, military commanders, political leaders, and scientists involved in the development of weapons of mass destruction. Both countries developed special units to undertake the highest level of targeting in assassination known as Executive Action; in other words, those directed at foreign leadership.

Skorzeny was brought into these Cold War intrigues immediately upon his release from internment as a prisoner of war. Over time, he developed a postwar network that would eventually become a strategic assassination asset of the United States for implementing Executive Action. This assassination capability was known only to a select, highly secretive group. The author will present evidence that the operation that targeted President John F. Kennedy was the utilization of this capability. We will show that Kennedy’s murder was neither an ad hoc event nor a conspiratorial arrangement with criminal enterprise, but the calculated implementation of a pre-existing government capability that was ordered into action.

The motive for the assassination of President John F. Kennedy is also revealed in this book. Ultimately, reliance upon Skorzeny by entities within the United States government would lead to his direct involvement in a perilous political situation, centered in the highest quarters of the government and one that poised the country for a catastrophic failure at the very height of the Cold War. The people who recognized and understood this threat and ordered the assassination are the same people associated with Skorzeny’s earliest entry into postwar covert operations. Some of the people known or suspected to be connected with the Dallas event are also found in the Skorzeny papers and had been associated with Skorzeny for decades.

Perhaps one of the most incongruent revelations is the fact that two members of the Warren Commission, Allen Dulles and John J. McCloy, were instrumental in the establishment of Skorzeny as a covert asset and were fully aware of his secret network.

THE SKORZENY PAPERS

In 2012, the personal papers of Otto Skorzeny were made available in public auction in the United States. According to the story received by the auction house, his personal papers were passed to his wife, Ilse, in 1975, just prior to the death of the former German commando.

According to the story, Skorzeny told Ilse to “take care of these papers,” for “my star will rise again.”

The Skorzeny papers cover the timeframe of 1945–1975. As the analysis of the documents proceeded, it became apparent that Skorzeny was heavily involved with intelligence and covert operations of the United States and other foreign governments during the Cold War.

The Skorzeny papers are predominantly in German and were written after he had established a permanent home in Spain after World War II, in 1950. There are both typed and handwritten letters. Most of the letters are original carbon copies of typed correspondence with numerous handwritten annotations by Skorzeny in the margins. Almost all the correspondence is from Skorzeny to Ilse describing business opportunities, meetings with key individuals, status of negotiations and contracts, banking issues, financial arrangements, and business ventures, evaluations of potential partners and possible difficulties, and cost or profit estimations. There are several categories of businesses: banking matters, various financial opportunities, import–export, construction, steel manufacturing, raw materials (such as lumber), mining interests, surplus aircraft sales and parts, and a variety of other financial pursuits.

OPERATIONAL COVER—THE KEY

But the papers also confirm that Skorzeny’s “Industrial Office” in Madrid was a cover for Skorzeny’s private intelligence network, which was supplying information or clandestine operational support (to include assassination operations) to the Central Intelligence Agency and the U.S. military. This is very important. The legitimate businesses that Skorzeny operated permitted Skorzeny to act with complete separation from the United States government, they were essentially a cutout. When the author bought the business papers of Skorzeny he inadvertently bought the “bridge” between Skorzeny and the United States government revealing the vital links described in this book. Without the papers, a link between the United States government and Skorzeny is highly problematic. With the papers, the clandestine networks are exposed. The business papers are a key that opens the door.

Skorzeny’s businesses, particularly his import–export contacts in various European and African countries, were also connected to black market and underworld networks. Skorzeny would provide information to U.S. intelligence that was derived from his “agents,” and he also served in various advisery roles for tasks ranging from paramilitary training to very sensitive covert action.

Skorzeny’s valuable network also had major contacts within foreign intelligence, including the French, Spanish, Portuguese, Germans, Israelis, and numerous countries in Europe, Africa, and South America. Skorzeny always worked for “the good guys,” and there is no evidence he helped the Soviet Union, East Bloc countries, or any country aligned against the United States or the West. This is not to say he helped military regimes or totalitarian governments. Simply stated, Skorzeny’s network was an excellent intelligence and counterintelligence asset and it proved very useful. It also went undetected until Skorzeny’s papers received a critical review by the author.

The Skorzeny archive is incomplete, so that only a general overview of the business relationships is possible, and some years are absent. Most of the Americans in the archive have some official intelligence background, as do many of the foreigners that Skorzeny dealt with. Most of the CIA officers identified in the papers never admitted to knowing Skorzeny.

This book is replete with terms of art that may or may not be generally familiar to the reader such as “clandestine” and “covert,” which essentially mean secret. To assist the reader when ambiguities occur, the author has prepared a glossary of terms. There, the reader can find the specific definitions and explanations of such terminology.

Throughout this book, there will be mention of numerous personalities, as well as governments, quasi governments, private organizations, and groups. Many of these entities were found to have dual significance. Firstly, they revealed important relationships at the time they occurred, and, secondly, some of these entities later become connected to the events in Dallas relating to the assassination of President John F. Kennedy. For this reason, the initial chapters set the stage for the reader to understand the complex histories of individuals or organizations within the context of time, both when they occurred and brought forward to the events in Dallas.

Overall, the Skorzeny network is extremely complex, with multiple layers. Many of these layers have overlapping membership. Additionally, it is certain that any sensitive work was compartmentalized. Skorzeny was a brilliant operator who made few, if any, mistakes. His selection to lead the U.S. Executive Action program was based on his skills, trustworthiness, and ability to leverage his network while maintaining plausible deniability for the U.S. government.

In this book, the author has presented only a fraction of the associations found in the Skorzeny papers. The author encourages the reader to use the Glossary and Appendices (containing relational charts) to understand the complex relationships. Specifically, prioritized are the factual elements that lead to confirmation of the clandestine Skorzeny network, his relation to U.S. intelligence, and the network presence in Dallas at the time of the assassination of President Kennedy. Future historians are likely to expand on the research, and it seems certain other discoveries will be made of interest to the public. On that note, it is the author’s intention to reposit the Skorzeny documents into a publically accessible venue, by sale or loan, as soon as feasible. He strongly believes that a failure to make public the actual documents concerning a discovery of this magnitude would dismiss the findings out of hand.

What follows is the true narrative of Otto Skorzeny on his dark road to Dallas as a “contract” adviser, arms dealer, front man, and confidant within the hidden recesses of U.S. (and other countries’) intelligence and military activities. Revealed here for the first time are the incredible and undeniable connections to the people and actions that led to the assassination of President John F. Kennedy and the proof that JFK’s murder was an international conspiracy involving the United States government and utilizing a clandestine network that had at its heart Otto Skorzeny.


THE LETTER

“Mr. Director, only you can clear Otto Skorzeny of the guilt of being [an] agent in the Dallas operation with [the] passive complicity of Allen W. Dulles.”

EXCERPT FROM A LETTER BY FRENCHMAN PAUL GLUC, MARCH 1975

On March 24, 1975, an FBI analyst translating foreign mail surveyed a curious handwritten letter received at the bureau headquarters in Washington, D.C., that had arrived from France only a few days earlier addressed to the director. The translator summarized the document as “a long, rambling and somewhat incoherent letter” concerning, among other things, the assassination of President John F. Kennedy. The writer identified himself as Paul Gluc, explaining in the letter that he understood the FBI was investigating the assassination of Kennedy. He pointed out the tensions that existed between Kennedy and the CIA, and he identified those responsible for Dallas as the CIA agents “relieved of their duties” in the wake of the Bay of Pigs disaster.

But Gluc also included a very curious statement, which was more specific in nature and which, despite the hundreds of books written about the Kennedy assassination, appears in print for the first time here. Gluc wrote: “Mr. Director, only you can clear Otto Skorzeny of the guilt of being [an] agent in the Dallas operation with [the] passive complicity of Allen W. Dulles.” He then ends the letter with, “I end here … with the hope of seeing the Dallas enigma solved.”

The letter would eventually make its way into the archive of post–assassination correspondence received by the U.S. government. It is not known if the letter was ever seen by Clarence M. Kelly, then director of the FBI, nor do we know the fate of the mysterious writer Paul Gluc.

Why did this Frenchman associate the name of Otto Skorzeny with the assassination of President Kennedy?

At the time the Gluc letter was written, a government appointed body, the Church Committee, was conducting an investigation into CIA covert action and intelligence, including assassination attempts on foreign leaders. One of the members of the committee was Senator Gary Hart of Colorado, who was serving on a subcommittee looking into the assassination of President Kennedy. Of particular interest to Senator Hart was the identification of a CIA asset known by the code word (or cryptonym) QJ/WIN.


PROLOGUE

“Perhaps it was foolhardy to suppose that in real life we could undo what had been done, cancel our knowledge of evil, uninvent our weapons, stow away what remained in safe hiding place.”

SIR WILLIAM STEPHENSON, HEAD OF BRITISH SECURITY COORDINATION

It may seem incredible, but the foreshadowing of President John F. Kennedy’s assassination was cast by adversaries and alliances born from the darkest days of post World War II. The origins of this story begin at the onset of the war. It was then, that England created an organization designed to carry out covert missions against Nazi Germany. The United States was soon to follow and also began to develop its own organization for covert war.

On the British side was the Special Operations Executive (SOE), on the American, the Office of Strategic Services (OSS). The men who created these organizations were highly intelligent, unconventional thinkers, with ice-cold decision making. The exploits of both organizations are legendary and much of what they did is still highly classified, including their missions to carry out abduction and assassination.

The actions carried out by the SOE and commandos had so impressed Adolf Hitler that he ordered the formation of his own special service to carry out similar missions for the Third Reich. The man chosen to lead this group was an unknown reserve SS captain named Otto Skorzeny. The Skorzeny commando group was highly successful and pulled off several of the most sensational operations in modern warfare. Skorzeny’s most famous operation was the rescue of the Italian Dictator Benito Mussolini in September 1943, preventing the Duce from being turned over to the Allies. The Mussolini rescue is still studied in the halls of military academies to this day. Like his enemy counterparts, Skorzeny’s commando group also conducted special missions involving abduction and assassination.

After Germany’s defeat, the SOE and OSS were officially disbanded as part of a rapid postwar demobilization. The Allies also set about bringing to justice those in the Third Reich responsible for war crimes. As an SS officer, Skorzeny was in the immediate arrest category. During the final days of the war he could have easily escaped, slipping away to South American or some other destination. Instead, he surrendered himself to uncertain fate. He was then held for two years as a POW and ultimately charged with violations of the Laws of War. It was at this moment that an amazing and strange event occurred. Those present at Skorzeny’s trial were suddenly shocked at the arrival of a distinguished party of his former adversaries—high ranking members of the SOE and OSS who came to the trial in his defense. This unlikely source of support was a major factor in the trial’s outcome and Skorzeny was quickly found not guilty.

But this was only the beginning of the mysterious events surrounding the postwar career of Skorzeny. Immediately after his acquittal he was sent to a special camp for German POW VIPs where he stayed for several months. Ultimately, he was transferred to an internment facility where he was to await final disposition and release. Then, in July 1948, he suddenly escaped. This caused a sensation in the press and Skorzeny became the focus of an international manhunt—except there was no manhunt. Skorzeny had gone underground—his release actually orchestrated by the same SOE and OSS officers who had appeared earlier for his defense.

These men also held a secret, and that secret is revealed here for the first time in print. The Skorzeny papers confirmed the existence of a super secret postwar organization created by a legacy group of SOE and OSS operatives. This group, whose name is not known, had the official blessing of senior U.S. military and intelligence officials. The purpose of this secret paramilitary group was to conduct covert warfare against Communist expansion in Europe and to prepare for war against the Soviet Union. It was also used to liquidate double agents and others deemed a threat to the West. The group worked in concert with similar programs instituted by the American CIA and British MI6. It was, in essence, a separate parallel effort. As part of this private covert group, Skorzeny organized his own smaller group that was under his direct control. The entire enterprise operated under the cover of an international business corporation. This book will follow the saga of Skorzeny’s inclusion in this secret network, the evolution of his covert actions within it, and the tragic legacy of its incarnation.


CHAPTER ONE

A WAR WITH NO RULES

“[Admiral] Darlan’s murder, however criminal, relieved the Allies of their embarrassment at working with him.”

WINSTON CHURCHILL, THE HINGE OF FATE: THE SECOND WORLD WAR, VOL. 4

In May 1940, Great Britain was fighting for its national survival. Nazi Germany had defeated Belgium and France in a brilliant blitzkrieg outflanking the combined French and British armies. The entire campaign lasted a mere six weeks. Fortunately for English they did manage to evacuate 198,000 British soldiers from Dunkirk in rescue mission dubbed Operation Dynamo. A remnant of the French and Belgian armies was also evacuated.

England now stood alone and prepared to defend the homeland. Britain’s military commanders knew the British Army would be too weak to stop a German invasion of the island. But, Prime Minister Winston Churchill was determined to carry on the fight, even if invaded. To do this, he authorized the creation of a special covert force—the Special Operations Executive or SOE. The SOE was controlled by the Ministry of Economic Warfare created to blockade Germany and destroy its economy. The SOE recruited from all branches of the military, the intelligence services, academia, industry, and the business world. During the early months after Dunkirk, the SOE assisted in the implementation a top-secret program for an underground army organization to be activated upon invasion. This “stay-behind” network was hidden within the GHQ Auxiliary Defense Units and began training and establishing secret bases around the country.

Before any invasion could be carried out by the Germans, they had to secure air supremacy over the beach landing sites for their ground units. An air battle ensued over England, famously known as the Battle of Britain. In a feat of incredible tenacity and against all the odds, the Royal Air Force managed to inflict great damage to the German Luftwaffe. As a result, Hitler’s air force came out of the battle too weak to provide air cover for the planned invasion codenamed Operation Sea Lion.

With the threat of invasion passed, Churchill immediately turned his attention to going on the offense as best he could and issued new orders to the SOE “to set Europe ablaze” using subversive warfare and covert action. Over the course of the next six years the SOE, along with units from the Commandos and Parachute Regiments, conducted espionage, sabotage, and reconnaissance across the occupied areas of Europe. These same forces paved the way for Allied landings at Normandy (D-Day), June 6, 1944.

The United States entered the war on December 7, 1941 when the Japanese conducted a surprise daylight attack against the U.S. military facilities at Pearl Harbor, Hawaii. After entering the war, the United States began the development of its own covert capability modelled on the British SOE. The idea for the American organization, eventually known as the Office of Strategic Services or OSS, actually originated from William Stephenson, the British intelligence liaison to the United States. Stephenson was the head of the British Security Coordination (BSC), an intelligence outfit tasked to speed America’s entry into the war on the British side. Stephenson approached President Roosevelt with the concept of an American version of the SOE. The Americans had monitored with great interest the successes and efficiency of the British secret services, SOE and commandos. Roosevelt immediately supported the formation of such a group.

The man chosen to lead the American effort to establish a covert organization similar to the SOE was William J. “Wild Bill” Donovan, a highly decorated hero of the First World War. During that conflict Donovan held the rank of major and served as the 1st Battalion Commander, 165th Infantry Regiment, 42nd Infantry Division. His unit saw heavy action during which Donovan was always at the front. His valor awards included the Medal of Honor and every other medal for bravery in the American award system. Donovan came from an immigrant Irish family that settled in Buffalo, New York after a few years in Canada. He had once considered the Catholic priesthood but later became a lawyer. His education included St. Joseph’s Collegiate Institute, Niagara University, and finally Columbia University of Law. While at Columbia he was a classmate of Franklin D. Roosevelt.

Prior to World War II Donovan had established a very successful law practice. He also served for a time as a U.S. Attorney for the Western District of New York and at the Department of Justice. During these years, Donovan established his credentials as an expert in international affairs, traveling extensively and meeting with world leaders. In 1940 and 1941, he was chosen as an informal emissary to Britain. The British were fond of him, particularly Winston Churchill who gave Donovan open access to classified information. Donovan was also close to Sir William Stephenson, a Canadian businessman, code named “Intrepid” who was Britain’s top spy in North America.

Stephenson headed the British Security Control (BSC) a part of Britain’s MI6. By all accounts, Stephenson was a brilliant man, highly successful in business and secret warfare. It has been suggested he was the inspiration for the James Bond character of fiction, but the reality is even far more sobering. Author Thomas Mahl, author of Desperate Deception comes the closest to capturing the essence of William Stephenson inner character in a documentary series, Secrets of War: Espionage, narrated by Charlton Heston. Mahl stated, “[Stephenson] was a tough, ruthless businessman … a very tough, hard individual, who once volunteered to kill Hitler with a high-powered hunting rifle, so this is a tough focused individual who will do whatever it takes to win.” Stephenson turned the BSC into top-notch spy agency—and it was also deadly. Again, quoting Mahl, “In order to be an agent for Stephenson you had to be intelligent, ruthless and one of the recruiting things was—I can not tell you what sort of work you will be involved in but if you join us you not be afraid of forgery and you must not be afraid of murder.” Stephenson’s BSC operated out of several floors in the Rockefeller Building—and paid no rent.

Donovan’s relationship with Stephenson became a matter of official government business on July 11, 1941, when Donovan was appointed by Roosevelt as the Coordinator of Information (COI) in an effort to develop a centralized national intelligence gathering capability. Donovan established the COI in a New York office building co-located with British MI6, appointing a New York lawyer named Allen Dulles as his office manager. Within the COI Donovan established several branches including a Secret Intelligence Branch (SI) and a Special Operations Branch (SO). SI was responsible for espionage, SO tasked with sabotage and liaison with foreign undergrounds. The SI and SO groups were affectionally known as the “cowboys” for the independent and sometimes rough nature of their work.

ENTER COLONEL ROBERT SOLBORG

In October 1941 Donovan selected Lt. Colonel Robert Solborg, a veteran army intelligence officer as his deputy for Special Operations. Solborg had received the recommendation of BSC chief William Stephenson’s deputy, Dick Ellis. Colonel Solborg boosted a very colorful military career and had served as an undercover intelligence officer for both the Americans and British. An extremely learned man, it was said Solborg could speak eleven languages. He was born in Warsaw, Poland, on February 18, 1892, when that country was still part of the Russian Empire.

Solborg’s father had been a Russian general and, as a young man, Solborg enlisted in the Russian cavalry, fighting in the First World War. After being wounded, he was sent to New York to work for the Russian military purchasing commission. He did not return to Russia, because of the outbreak of the Bolshevik Revolution. Afterward, Solberg was active in White Russian support groups, which he continued throughout his life. In fact, it was Solborg’s White Russian contacts that had landed him the OSS position. British agent Dick Ellis’s first wife was a Russian émigré who had met Solborg. Their wives became close friends and the friendship lead to Ellis recommending Solborg. As a foreshadowing, it was precisely the White Russian émigré groups associated with Solborg that will play a significant role in assisting Lee Harvey Oswald when he arrives in Dallas, Texas in the summer of 1962. These important connections will be expanded on later in the book.

During World War I Solborg served as a private in the 42nd Infantry Division with then Major Donovan. Solborg would end the war as a captain. After the war, Solborg became a special representative for the American Rolling Mill Company (ARMCO) selling Iron Sheets to foreign countries, including Russia. During this time, he spent many years in Paris, France and 1939 he was the company’s managing director for Britain and France. At some point Solborg, as an American intelligence officer was selected as a liaison to British intelligence for whom he also conducted espionage missions. Using ARMCO as a cover, Solborg became a top intelligence agent, reporting on German war production, including a visit to Germany during the first year of World War II. In December 1940, U.S. Army intelligence sent him on secret missions throughout Portugal, Spain, and the Vichy French territories of North Africa. It was during his work for British intelligence he became close friends with Dick Ellis, later to become William Stephenson deputy at BSC. It can logically be assumed therefore that Solborg knew Stephenson prior to the entry of the United States into the war. Also, for several years before the war, Stephenson was closely connected to the Pressed Steel Company which provided metal to the British automotive industry and likely did business with ARMCO.

In the fall of 1941, Colonel Solborg departed for London on orders from General Donovan to tour SOE bases in England and Scotland. This was the first time an American officer had been allowed access to the SOE program and what Colonel Solborg saw really impressed him. He also received permission to be an active participant in the training, learning firsthand about the more lethal aspects of the business. He was even awarded “honorary” commando status, complete with a swagger stick and black beret.

When Solborg returned to the states he briefed Donovan on his ideas for subversion, sabotage, and guerrilla warfare. He told Donovan that operations should include the dissemination of black propaganda, the sabotage of enemy transportation, communications, and military installations, and the “fomenting, organizing, equipping, training, and leading of disaffected elements under enemy rule.” Solborg also suggested that sabotage alone would not be sufficient but must be able to incite revolution starting with passive resistance and moving toward open violence. The basic concept was to establish an American force that could be inserted into Europe to assist, train and organize oppressed peoples to carry on secret warfare behind enemy lines.

Meanwhile, William Stephenson had established a highly classified secret agent training base in Canada known as Special Training School No. 103, (unofficially known as Camp X). The camp was established December 6, 1941 on the very eve of Pearl Harbor. There after it provided covert warfare training for American, British and Canadian operatives assigned to the COI (later OSS), SOE, and British secret service organizations. The Royal Canadian Mounted Police and FBI also trained at the facility. Camp X was shut down after the war. The site is the location today of Intrepid Park.

It is known that Colonel Solborg had difficultly working with Donovan and was critical of the way he managed the COI. In February 1942 Solborg was dispatched to Lisbon, to set up COI operations in neutral Portugal—a vital overseas station at the time. There he was to work closely with the American diplomat Robert Daniel Murphy who was part of the American diplomatic corps. Murphy was active in making clandestine contact with French and Arab underground movements in an attempt to sway them to the Allied cause.

Murphy, like William Donovan, hailed from an Irish Catholic family. A graduate of George Washington University, he started his career as a Postal Clerk but transferred to the Consular Service. Before the war he had various assignments in Europe including Bern, Zurich, Munich, Seville, and Paris. In Munich he had personally witnessed Adolf Hitler’s attempt to seize control of the Bavarian government in 1923. Throughout the 1930s Murphy rose through the ranks of the State Department, and in 1940 was a senior diplomat at the American Embassy in Paris.

After France surrendered to Germany in June 1940, the French government was dissolved and a new puppet state was formed. The new government departed Paris and established a capitol in the town of Vichy. The French leader of the Vichy state was Marshal Henri Philippe Petain, a World War I hero, who administered the southern part of France, while the northern part remained under German military occupation.

The U.S. Embassy also vacated Paris at this time and moved the American diplomatic mission to Vichy. In addition to Daniel Murphy, the embassy staff included, U.S. Army attaché Major Robert A. Schow and U.S. Navy attaché Commander Roscoe H. Hillenkoetter. After the war, Major Schow would rise to be a senior Army general and director of the CIA’s Office of Special Operations (OSO), meanwhile, Hillenkoetter would attain the rank of admiral, and later serve as the first director of the Central Intelligence Agency.

From Vichy, Murphy set about leading U.S. covert diplomacy with various French underground movements, and although independent of Donovan’s COI, worked very closely with Donovan’s senior agents such as Colonel Solborg. Intelligence soon arrived from COI field officers that the Vichy-controlled areas of North Africa were not effectively under German control and ripe for exploitation. This gained the interest of the American government and Daniel Murphy was selected to explore options to advance the political and military situation in the North African region.

Two options for gaining control of the region soon emerged from this intelligence. One came from Donovan, the other from Colonel Solborg. Donovan’s plan was a plot involving the removal of the pro–Vichy Arab Prime Minister, bypassing any direct manipulation of the French government. However, Murphy did not like Donovan’s plan believing it potentially harmful to American–French relations and cancelled it. Instead he favored another plan being explored by Colonel Solborg. This plan revolved around Solborg’s primary contact with the French underground, Jacques Lemaigre-Dubreuil, one of Solborg’s prewar business contacts. Lemaigre was a wealthy businessman. He was also active in a plot to remove the French Vichy government in North Africa. Lemairge had developed, along with another Frenchman, Henri d’Astier de la Vigerie, a plan to incite a coup d’état in the French colonial army replacing the Vichy officials and establishing a pro–Allied provisional government.

LA CAGOULE—THE HOODED ONES

An important network in the secret scheming of Lemaigre was a group with far-reaching implications for Otto Skorzeny and others in this book. This was a prewar fascist-leaning organization called the Comite de Secret Action Révolutionnaire, or Secret Committee of Revolutionary Action, nicknamed “La Cagoule,” or “Hooded Ones.” The origins of this dangerous secret organization lie in the divisions that existed within the French political system prior to World War II. Basically, La Cagoule was a secret Catholic brotherhood that was vehemently anti-Communist and had as a goal the return of the French monarchy.

The Cagoule directed violent action against Communists and operated from 1935–1937. It conducted ruthless assassinations and bombings to achieve its objectives. Eventually infiltrated by the French government, the organization was never fully rooted out, and an element existed within the French military. Its imprisoned members were released at the outbreak of the war to defend France. Lemairge network was heavily populated with Cagoule men making the secret enterprise very dangerous. It was these men with whom Colonel Solborg was negotiating.

In the development of the Lemaigre scheme, Solborg worked closely with COI operative, Colonel William A. Eddy, a highly decorated Marine who had been assigned to Donovan’s COI in Tangier, Morocco. In the days and weeks that passed Colonel Eddy requested large sums of money, arms, and equipment for the French in preparation of the Lemaigre plan. Donovan however, was highly skeptical of these requests, as was the American military Joint Chiefs. In April, the Joint Chiefs of Staff decided not to back the Lemaigre plan. Instead, funding was designate for the buildup of guerrilla groups in anticipation of a North African invasion by the Allies. Disheartened by the negative response from Washington Colonel Eddy turned back to Donovan’s original plan of supporting the Arabs, this time in Spanish Morocco.

Suddenly, there was a turn of events. At the end of May, Daniel Murphy was once again in communication with Lemaigre and reopened secret discussion pertaining to support for Lemaigre underground. Then new discussions developed involving the idea of installing General Henri Giraud, a military war hero, as the head of a temporary French government in North Africa. The champion of this new plan was Colonel Solborg who began high-level talks with various leaders to gain their support. Solborg traveled to London and met with General Charles de Gaulle, the leader of the French Army, who had escaped to England in June 1940 and designated the Free French Forces. Solborg was not impressed with General de Gaulle but reported to Donovan that de Gaulle was supportive of Giraud.

By June 1942, Solborg had undertaken a secret mission to North Africa to meet with Lemaigre who claimed to have General Giraud’s support and a plan for the takeover of Vichy North Africa. Shortly after the meeting, Lemaigre departed for Vichy to confer secretly with Giraud, who was also a former member of the Cagoule.

Despite acting in concert with Daniel Murphy’s encouragement to meet with Lemaigre, Solborg had not informed General Donovan of his trip to North Africa.

Meanwhile, on June 13, 1942, the OSS was authorized by President Franklin D. Roosevelt, selecting General Donovan as its first and only commander.

On June 15, a furious Donovan directed Solborg to stop all secret negotiations with the Lemaigre group and report immediately to Washington. Despite Colonel Solborg’s pleas and assurances that no promises were made and that the plan was a viable option, Donovan was intransigent. In addition to insubordination, Donovan was concerned that any failure at this early stage in the formation of the OSS might endanger its existence. He subsequently relieved Solborg as Deputy for Special Operations, who then returned to Lisbon as military attaché, a post he would retain until the end of the war. Despite the reports of friction between Donovan and Solborg the entire affair could have been a ruse.

It was Colonel Solborg who set in motion the political intrigues between the Allies and the former Cagoule network of Frenchman. After Solborg’s departure secret contact with the French resistance in North Africa was taken over by Robert D. Murphy and Colonel William A. Eddy. The next stage of events revolved around how the OSS could support an Allied invasion of North Africa which had been selected as the first large-scale combined effort against the Nazis in Europe. The plan which involved American, British, and other Commonwealth troops was set for November 1942. Lemaigre’s underground meanwhile prepared for assisting the Allied landings, although the exact date remained a top secret.

THE DARLAN AFFAIR

The allies invaded North Africa on November 1942 at which time Lemaigre implemented his plans with Henri d’Astier leading a coup in the city of Algiers. During the coup the Resistance arrested the commander of Vichy forces Admiral François Darlan. The Allies had also secretly brought to North Africa General Henri Giraud in a coordinated attempt by Robert Murphy to secretly maneuver the general into position to take charge of French forces in North Africa. Although a respected general he was not recognized by the Vichy French forces opposing the Allied landings.

Unable to resolve the situation with Giraud, the Allies then negotiated with Admiral Darlan, who was the legitimate Vichy authority, thus ending French hostilities toward the Allies. A deal was then struck with Darlan remaining in control of the civilian government and General Giraud retained as military commander. After some intense negotiations Darlan ordered a Vichy-force ceasefire ending the short battle between the French forces opposing the Allied landings. Subsequently, Darlan signed an armistice with the Allies, incorporating the Vichy forces into the Free French military then under General de Gaulle. Darlan was not however trusted by the Free French.

Suddenly, on Christmas Eve, 1942, Darlan was assassinated by Fernand Bonnier de la Chapelle, a 20-year-old royalist, who had slipped out of France to North Africa after the German invasion in 1940. After the Allied invasion, Bonnier joined Corps Franc d’Afrique, a paramilitary security force, formed by Henri d’Astier. After d’Astier was appointed Deputy Secretary of the Interior he continued to maintain contact with the corps and met several times with Bonnier, who served as a courier, prior to the assassination of Darlan. The entire incident is recorded in history as the Darlan Affair.

The day after the assassination Bonnier was convicted in a trial that lasted less than an hour and sentenced to death, but the case was turned over to a military tribunal. Bonnier stated he had acted strictly for moral reasons. The military court rejected further inquiries into the facts as well as a number of pleas for mercy. Although the law required that Bonnier’s case be heard by the French head of state, a high commissioner pronounced the sentence should to go forward. At this point, General Giraud, who was then head of military justice as commander-in-chief, ordered the execution to be carried out. Before Bonnier died he attempted to implicate Henri d’Astier but the confession was never revealed. The very day of the execution Giraud was elected to replace Darlan. Henri d’Astier had attempted an appeal for Bonnier but was told it was too late.

Darlan’s sudden murder removed major political obstacles in the relationship between the Allies, the Free French Forces of de Gaulle, and the French Resistance movement. Was a conspiracy at play in the French admiral’s murder? Could the Americans, British, Free French, or Lemaigre’s underground network have carried out the assassination? Historians have examined this question in great detail with no clear answer, although the coincidental evidence suggests Henri d’Astier.

This book may provide information that will eventually be useful in resolving the mystery of the Darlan assassination. More research is needed. Perhaps the most relevant point at this juncture is the Darlan Affair could be considered a model in an assassination operation for establishing a fall guy or patsy. That being said, the reader may have already picked up on the similarities between the Darlan assassination and the JFK assassination involving Lee Harvey Oswald twenty-one years later. It is also telling that the men and organizations mentioned in this chapter will continue to be important characters throughout the history presented in this book.


CHAPTER TWO

THE FATE OF THE OSS

When you fall, my friend,

Another friend will emerge

From the shadows

To take your place

FROM SOE/OSS GREETING CARD

By early 1943 it was determined that the senior officer in the OSS should have military rank. Up to this point, Donovan, who held a commission as a colonel in the US Army Reserve, had served in a civilian capacity. Then, on April 2, 1943, he was promoted to brigadier general and returned to active duty. Unknown to General Donovan, or any other Allied officer at the time, only sixteen days after Donovan’s promotion, the Germans conducted a promotion of their own—one that had far reaching implications for this history. On April 18, 1943, an obscure reserve SS officer by the name of Otto Skorzeny was advanced to Hauptsturmführer (Captain) and assumed command of a new German commando group. Despite the significant difference in their ranks, Captain Skorzeny was the German counterpart to General Donovan. In the last two years of the war both Donovan and Skorzeny would leave an indelible mark on the history of World War II. Unbeknownst to either man, they were headed for a rendezvous with destiny.

From 1943 to 1945 the various branches of the OSS conducted multiple activities and missions. At its height the organization employed almost 24,000 men and woman. A large part of the organization was involved in analyzing information from open sources such as newspapers to information obtained by espionage. In the meantime, the Special Intelligence and Special Operations branches performed acts of sabotage, waged a propaganda war, organized and coordinating anti–Nazi resistance groups in Europe, and provided military training and formed special teams for highly sensitive missions such as acquiring Nazi nuclear materials.

The OSS also worked very closely with the British SOE. Prior to the invasion of Europe special teams were formed under Operation Jedburgh to infiltrate, mainly by parachute, small four-man “Jedburgh” teams composed of British, American, French, Dutch, and Belgian SOE/OSS operatives. These were highly dangerous missions with orders to link up with local resistance groups and carry out guerrilla warfare. The Jedburgh missions paved the way for the large landing forces on D-Day, June 6, 1944.

Also formed at this same time was a joint SOE/OSS headquarters designed the Special Force Headquarters (SFHQ) to handle OSS and SOE management in the European Theater. The new headquarters formation did not change the functions of the two organization but directed their activities in an increased collaborative effort. Joint SOE/OSS units were then assigned to the various field armies.

ASSASSINATION OPERATIONS

Both the Allies and the Axis planned and executed assassination missions. That being said, it is very possible that the OSS, SOE, or both were involved in the Darlan Affair outlined above. The American OSS had learned about the darker arts of assassination from the British, who had their own capabilities housed within special sections of the SOE and Special Air Service (SAS). Section X of the SOE was specifically tasked with the assassination of German leaders. Operation Foxley was a plan to liquidate Adolf Hitler. The operation was not declassified until 1998. Other Third Reich personalities were also on SOE target lists including the main subject of this book, Otto Skorzeny. One of the most famous SOE assassination operations, conducted in May 1942, was codenamed Anthropoid. In the operation, two Czechs trained by the SOE were parachuted into their country where they successful carried out a grenade attack on Reinhard Heydrich, head of the Reich Main Security Office.

The Americans also formed special OSS units tasked with assassination. In one dramatic case, General Donovan issued an order to OSS Captain Aaron Bank to target Hitler. The OSS plan was codenamed Operation Iron Cross. Colonel Bank’s special unit included a detachment of German Americans who were to be parachuted into Bavaria—their mission, kill or capture Hitler at his mountain headquarters near Berchtesgaden. The author interviewed a member of Colonel Bank’s intelligence team, Tom Polgar, who later became a senior CIA officer. Ultimately, Operation Iron Cross was never carried out, coming too close to the end of the war when events were moving decidedly in the Allies favor.

THE FINAL MISSIONS OF THE OSS

In December 1944, with the end of the war in Europe in sight, the OSS received orders to begin securing documentation on Hitler’s government and military organizations that would be required for a postwar prosecution into war crimes and Nazi atrocities. The OSS was already involved in various secret acquisition missions that included securing scientific personnel, research and development archives, advanced technology, military intelligence and a host of other pertinent materials.

In the fall of 1944, General Donovan submitted a secret memorandum to the White House (at President Roosevelt’s request) outlining the creation of a postwar U.S. intelligence agency. The plan included a unified intelligence organization with representation from the Army, Navy, and State. Donovan’s idea was supported by some influential military commanders within the government, including the General Omar Bradley. Donovan explained that a need for such an agency would be required to deal with the complexities of a postwar environment. The proposal specifically called for maintaining specialized OSS personnel and warned that they should not be dispersed.

Meanwhile, back in Washington, D.C., there were strong calls for the dissolution of the OSS as an unnecessary organization in time of peace. Actually, the OSS had often been at odds with other intelligence branches during the entire period of the war. Army intelligence and J. Edgar Hoovers’s FBI in particular disliked the OSS and Donovan.

Donovan was fully aware of the animosity towards him but continued the attempt to save the OSS. But his was to no avail. Unfortunately, (for Donovan) his proposal for a centralized intelligence organization became public, reportedly leaked by FBI Director Hoover. Touted in the press as an American Gestapo, the exposed plan caused great political turmoil resulting in the shelving of the entire matter. President Roosevelt, who held General Donovan in high esteem, then intervened and revived the proposal just one week before he died.

All of this was reversed again once Vice President Harry Truman assumed the Presidency. In the wake of President Roosevelt’s death, a scathing report created by a group linked to Army G-2 (intelligence) and sent to the White House highlighting damaging information compiled from every agency that had ever lodged a complaint against the OSS. Truman would eventually act on this information and on his personal bias against Donovan. Truman had the opinion that the primary mission of the intelligence services was to provide him with daily updates on world events and not to be conducting covert action. To make matters worse, Donovan was highly vocal in his criticism of President Truman’s view point on the OSS. Donovan also knew the writing was on the wall for his beloved OSS.

THE SUDDEN FORMATION OF THE BRITISH–AMERICAN–CANADIAN-CORPORATION (BACC)

British intelligence chief, Sir William Stephenson, shared the same deep concerns as General Donovan over the fate of the British secret services and SOE. Both men had not only created efficient intelligence and special operations services, but they also achieved the incredibly difficult task of creating organizations that worked well together. Both men were loath to relinquish the capability of their organizations as well as the special bonds of comradery and trust that had developed out of their combined efforts. In many ways the OSS and the SOE were one, and it was this effective coordination that emerged as a unique capability.

Unity of effort is one of the main principles of war—something Stephenson and Donovan understood well. When the war ended, the close bonds that had existed between the two organizations was seized upon by Donovan’s critics as a security risk, highlighting the foreign intelligence connection to American intelligence. But Stephenson and Donovan remained undeterred and it was at this critical point in the history for their organizations that they moved expeditiously to save what they could.

Suddenly, in May 1945, Stephenson and a small circle of associates moved on the formation of a highly enigmatic private corporation called British–American–Canadian-Corporation, S.A. (BACC). The New York based company was formed with a Panamanian registry. It operated in New York in the same building that served as the headquarters for Stephenson’s BSC. Nearly all of its corporate officers and almost all of its rank and file were former intelligence officers. Two of Stephenson top partners in the corporation were senior-level British intelligence officers Sir Charles Hambro and Colonel Rex L. Benson. In civilian life Benson was a merchant banker and put up most of the money for the new corporation. Hambro was also a powerful merchant banker and highly decorated World War I Veteran. At the beginning of World War II, he joined the Ministry of Economic Warfare to oversee several departments of the SOE including the French, Belgian, German and Dutch sections, also for five months beginning in November 1941, he was SOE deputy. He was involved in the earliest coordination with William Donovan over the start-up of an American organization for covert action.

Considering Stephenson and Donovan’s extensive intelligence background the creation of BACC is most unusual indeed, especially when one considers the timing. But, the SOE had been part of the Ministry of Economic Warfare, a critical factor in the upcoming analysis. There is also every indication that General Donovan was directly involved in the formation of BACC as well. His OSS personnel represented a vital component of the overall salvage plan. Actually, from the start of BACC’s formation, Donovan’s law firm acted as the corporate legal advisery group. Newspapers covering the formation of BACC state that the company exported such things as adding machines, textiles, excavators, automobile equipment of all kinds, heavy machinery, tractors, chemicals, botanical drugs, waxes, gums, seeds, and fixed oils.

ANOTHER MYSTERIOUS FORMATION—THE WORLD COMMERCE CORPORATION (WCC)

Following closely the formation of Stephenson’s BACC was a separate company formed on August 13, 1945, called the World Commerce Corporation (WCC). The formation of WCC is directly linked to former OSS personnel. The president of WCC was Frank Ryan, an OSS officer who had been Chief of Special Intelligence for Spain and Portugal. During the war, Ryan had worked very closely with the previously described Colonel Robert Solborg, who managed the OSS station in Lisbon. Their close relationship will have major implications for our story down the line. Ryan, a textile exporter and business representative for J.S. Bache & Company, an investment company, had also provided a large portion of the American capitol for William Stephenson’s BACC. This effectively ties the two corporations together.

Frank Ryan, was Francis “Frank” Timothy Ryan, born in Troy, New York in 1907. He remains a very mysterious character. Despite coming from a very wealthy family very little is actually known about him, or even how he entered service with the OSS. In the 1920s, Frank Ryan’s father, John Jay Ryan, Sr. had founded a textile (cotton waste) business as John J. Ryan and Sons. The war found Frank in Washington, D.C., were he handled OSS operations for Spain and Portugal. In 1945, he returned to the family business which was operated by his older brother John Jay Ryan, Jr.

Frank had a reputation as a notorious playboy. His list of girlfriends after the war is impressive—model, Anita Colby, linked to actor Clark Gable; Mrs. Neal Vanderbilt, Jr.; actress Joan Fontaine; and actress Ann Miller. It was said of Ryan that he was seldom seen “with anything less than a beauty.” His personal life aside, Ryan was personally selected by Donovan as the point man for the World Commerce Corporation.

The World Commerce corporate description also included a conglomerate of worldwide businesses, and like BACC functioned mostly as an import–export company. The background of WCC and how it came into existence was actually recorded years later by a female former OSS agent who was directly involved in its formation. The participant was Betty Lussier, a.k.a. Aline, Countess of Romanones. She served in the OSS in Spain from January 1944 to August 1945 and had worked directly with Frank Ryan during the war.

Her account of the WCC formation can be found in The Secrets War: The Office of the Strategic Services of World War II, edited by George C. Chalou. Lussier recounted her transition from the OSS to the WCC—”In August 1945, a cable came in from Washington ordering the immediate return of all OSS employees in Spain and the termination of all networks that had been working for us. That same week, I received a surprise. An OSS official from Washington visited and informed me that I was the only one of our SI group to be kept on for work in a supersecret organization inside Spain,” (emphasis added). She continued, “I was told that this would depend on my being able to get my visa extended to permit me to remain in the country. A cable showing I had a serious job to reopen offices of the American firm of John J. Ryan and Sons, in Madrid.” So secret was the new organization that the acting Ambassador Walter Butterworth made Lussier swear on a Bible not to reveal the organizations formation.” Lussier said she had no problems taking the oath as she “believed” she “would be working for some other intelligence department of the U.S. government.”

Shortly, thereafter Lussier opened an office in Madrid for John J. Ryan and Sons. Then, she was “abruptly ordered to leave for Paris.” There she was to “work with a company called World Commerce, Inc.” She further explained this move—“I took for granted that this was my new cover. I worked with Jack Okie there, who had been in the [OSS] Lisbon SI station. We did more or less the same work in Paris as in Madrid—opened offices, initiated business with French firms, and handled barter of products between Czechoslovakia and Sweden. Then suddenly, 6 months later I was asked to proceed to Zurich, where I opened bank accounts for World Commerce and established an office there for the same company.”

In closing out her comments on World Commerce Lussier stated, “I had the impression that I would essentially be organizing networks for information on Soviet intelligence activities. I was scheduled to move to Prague to open offices there when I married. Only 40 years later did I learn that this company was not openly being used as a cover for U.S. intelligence, even though everybody I saw and worked with during the two years in that job had been an OSS agent in one country or another. The company’s set-up seems to have been a precursor to the Iran-Contra situation, where sales from private companies were used to bolster pro-U.S. groups in a foreign country.”

Lussier’s husband was in fact Ricardo Sicre, another former OSS agent that had operated in Spain during the war. He was also vice president of World Commerce Corporation. Certainly, a man worthy of an independent study, Ricardo Sicre was a top agent of William Donovan and had conducted a number of sensitive black jobs for the general, including an operation to penetrate the Spanish Embassy in Washington in 1942. An extremely handsome man of Spanish descent, Sicre accomplished this mission by seducing unsuspecting secretaries, after which, he broke into the embassy at night, cracked the safe, photographed the contents, and exited with volumes of classified documents. Later, Sicre, placed under Frank Ryan, was transferred to the OSS station in Spain. There he used the alias Richard Stickler. Sicre would later set up a training school for spies who crossed into Vichy, France from Spain. It was during this period, that he met agent Lussier and, disregarding OSS policy, began a romance that eventually resulted in their marriage. Sicre ended the war as an Army captain and was awarded the Bronze Star for his dangerous exploits. He also became an American citizen.

Both Sicre and Lussier belonged to Special Counterintelligence (SCI) within X-2, the Counter Espionage Branch of OSS. SCI was the most highly classified section within the OSS since it was linked to the ULTRA program. ULTRA was the super-secret allied communications intercept program used against the Nazis. SCI had operational priority over both Secret Intelligence (SI) and Special Operations (SO). Its main purpose was to pass counterintelligence information between military units and to conduct a wide range of counterintelligence activity from deception to targeting of enemy networks.

PROJECT SAFEHAVEN

The timing and people involved in the events described above indicate William Stephenson and General Donovan had secretly transferred elements of their old organizations over to the private enterprises BACC and WCC even before the formal decision had been made to disband their official organizations. What then was the purpose behind the formation of BACC and WCC?

The answer is found in the wartime placement of the SOE under the umbrella of the Ministry of Economic Warfare that had the mission of blockading Germany and also securing Nazi assets. Here, the Skorzeny papers added an invaluable piece to the equation, since, as the reader will soon find out, the Skorzeny business papers are in fact, connected to World Commerce Corporation. Both OSS veterans, Frank Ryan and Ricardo Sicre, are found in the Skorzeny papers. Specific revelations from the Skorzeny papers will also confirm that BACC and WCC were born out of a highly classified project known as SAFEHAVEN.

The SAFEHAVEN effort actually began in May 1944, when the Allies had concerns that the Nazis could use hidden assets to reconstitute a Fourth Reich or escape justice. For this reason, U.S. and British intelligence units were formed to track down and block German assets in neutral and non-belligerent countries throughout Europe and the Americas. The Ministry of Economic Warfare created special committees to carry of SAFEHAVEN objectives. These groups were composed of both SOE and OSS personnel, hence the later use of both.

A major target of SAFEHAVEN was a vast German corporate entity known as Sociedad Financiera Industrial, or SOFINDUS. The corporation also served as cover for a vast Nazi intelligence network that extended into South America. The SOFINDUS network was controlled in Berlin from the same Reich security office that controlled Otto Skorzeny’s commandos, although located in a different branch. Importantly, Skorzeny was fully aware of all operational aspects of SOFINDUS and its agent network. In the field, the SOFINDUS network was controlled out of Madrid, Spain, with tentacles in France, North Africa and South America. SAFEHAVEN was one of the primary reasons for the formation of BACC and WCC and the recall of SOE and OSS personnel to Spain.

There is a multitude of other collaborating evidence to support the conclusion that BACC and WCC were part of SAFEHAVEN, but for brevity, the author will cite only a few. For example, one of the senior corporate officers of BACC was George Huhle Merten who had been in charge of Operation George, an OSS investigation into enemy penetrations of South America. The target of Operation George would have been the SOFINDUS network. Also, another individual who worked with BACC, but was not a formal member, was Nelson Rockefeller, the wartime coordinator of inter-American affairs, the U.S. intelligence agency that intercepted Nazi activity in South America.

Finally, there was the public announcement in numerous U.S. Newspapers on September 25, 1945 that Nazi assets were being seized in Spain by the Allies. The article specifically mentions SOFINDUS. Since the date of the article matches the events described above it presents further evidence that SOFINDUS assets seizure and the formation of the World Commerce Corporation are linked. More details of the importance of SOFINDUS and its significance to Otto Skorzeny’s personal archive, will be revealed in detail later in this book.

During the formation period of the WCC, General Donovan engaged in extensive world travel, including to the Far East, where he consulted with OSS officers in that theater. At the end of September, he departed for Germany. Ultimately, only a limited number of Donovan’s former OSS operatives were recruited into the WCC, meanwhile other OSS personnel were slated to remained in government service.

THE FORMATION OF THE STRATEGIC SERVICES UNIT (SSU)

Happening simultaneously with the formation of World Commerce Corporation was an end to Donovan’s seemingly futile struggle to save the OSS. Yielding to political pressure, but over the strong objections of Donovan, President Truman signed Executive Order 9621 on September 20, 1945, terminating the OSS organization. Given the timing of the formation of WCC and President Truman’s order for OSS disbandment, the events seem odd. Either there is truth to the accepted version of history that Donovan was at odds with Truman or perhaps there was a strategic deception at play. It is possible the friction between the two was a ruse to hide from the Soviets the fact that the United States had secretly shifted OSS capabilities under a commercial cover to recover Nazi assets. Either way, that is exactly what happened.

On September 26, 1945, Brigadier General John Magruder, Donovan’s former Deputy Director for Intelligence and Assistant Secretary of War John J. McCloy reportedly circumvented President Truman’s disbandment order and acted to save what they could of certain OSS branches. In this administrative action, OSS officers from the Special Operations branch and Special Intelligence branch were transferred to a new governmental organization, the Strategic Services Unit (SSU). General Magruder was then placed in charge of the SSU which was officially formed on October 1, 1945. Also under this revision, another branch of the OSS, the Research and Analysis Branch, was absorbed by the State Department’s Interim Research and Intelligence Service.

DONOVAN LEAVES FOR GERMANY AND MEETS WITH OTTO SKORZENY

Immediately after the disbandment of the OSS, Donovan headed for Germany to close out OSS business, and with the creation of the World Commerce Corporation, to make back-channel arrangements for the recruitment of OSS personnel for the WCC. During this final tour as head of the OSS another event will transpire that can be added to the enigmatic history described above, especially in regard to the mysterious formation the WCC. This is also one with far reaching implications for the history presented in this book.

In early November 1945 General Donovan would interrogate SS Lt. Colonel Otto Skorzeny, wartime chief of Hitler’s commandos, who was being held as a POW in Nuremberg. The event was mentioned by Skorzeny in his memoirs, My Commando Operations: “Donovan asked to see me during my time in Nuremburg Prison. The meeting was very cordial; there was neither victor nor vanquished, just two soldiers, both rather dare devilish and inventive, who had served their countries to the best of their ability.” Skorzeny also claimed he did not know at the time who Donovan was and only found out later that he had met his “counterpart on the American side.”

The meeting between Donovan and Skorzeny was held in a large briefing room at the Nuremberg detention facility. Also present were several senior staff officers who have never been identified. We do know the meeting lasted for some time. With the revelations cited above concerning the formation of the WCC and its role in Project SAFEHAVEN it is likely Donovan’s meeting with Skorzeny was not a routine interrogation but rather a sounding out. He was there to see firsthand the man entrusted to carry out Germany’s most secret missions and evaluate his inside knowledge of Nazi assets for possible inclusion in asset recovery operations.
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